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wing was built in 1952.

~house about 1900. Abberations in the water table on the west side indicate

~north of the door,“bqt resumes its original level immediately south of the

I. General Statement;

A. Architectural character: Hesse is a single-pile Georgian
plantation house. At one time there were flanking dependencies to the
north and south., The southern dependency has been rebuilt, and a breezeway
connecting it to the house has been enclosed. A late nineteenth and early
twentieth century large frame ell projected from the west side of the house,
but it has since been removed.

B. Archaeological character: The cutlines of the foundations of
an earlier house of about the gsame dimensions of the present one have been
discovered immediately east of the house. These remains have given rise
to the popular myth that Hesse was once a double-pile structure, and that
a fire, mentioned in 1798, destroyed the east section. This conclusion is
not justified, however, as the brickwork indicates that this was an earlier,
separate house. The outlines of the north flanking outbuilding may be
traced at the end of the present house.

C. Condition of the fabric: Hesse appears to be structurally
sound, but is in need of minor repairs and upkeep.

IT. Description of the Exterior:
A. Overall dimensions: The five-bay, two-story house is sixty
feet long and thirty-two feet wide. The modern five-bay flanking south

B. Foundatioms: Brick laid in English bond.

: C. Wall construction: The brick walls are laid in English bond
below the beveled water table, and Flemish bond above, The east side, to-
ward the Piankatank River, shows weathering.

D. ©Porches: The present east porch covers the center three bays,
and has a hipped roof supported by four piers. Old photographs show a
smaller one~bay east porch with a gable roof and simple columns on the

that there may have been a porch there originally, The water table dips

door, There is an indentation in the brick below the water table on either
side of the door. The south indentation is four courses lower than the
north one. This suggests that at one time there may have been a flight of
steps ascending from the south to the door.

E. Chimneys: An interior chimney with a brick stack and a
corbelled cap is at each end of the house,

F. Openings:

1. Doorways and doors: Above the east doorway is a finely
carved cherubic face in Portland stone. The flat arch with keystone was
incised and filled in with cement in the nineteenth century. The door frame
has been replaced and has a bead. A rectangular transom is above the six-
raised-panel door. The west door has architrave trim withan incised arch
similar to that above the east door. The rough stone where a carved head
was broken off remains above the arch, -

2. Windows: The windows have architrave trim. The flat
arches above them have been incised and filled with cement, which has falleq
away in some cases baring the old brick jack arch. The east window sash
was replaced with one-over-one sash in the twentieth century. The west
windows retain nine-over-nine sash, Segmental arches cover the basement
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windows.

G. Roof: The gable roof is covered with asbestos shingle. A
modiliion cornice ornaments the eaves,

ITII. Description of the Interior:
A, Floor plan:

1. Basement: Two large rooms are in the basement. A large
round arch at the north and of the north room is the remnant of a vaulted
wine cellar, probably constructed soon after the house was completed.

2. Upper floors: Hesse employs the traditional, vernacular
single-pile plan expressed in a central passage flanked by a room on either
side. The modern additions are entered from the south room.

B. Stairway: The three-run stair ascending in the passage features
a square newel with a molded cap, a molded rail, provincial turned balusters,
brackets, and a paneled spandrel with three large horizontal raised panels.

C. Flooring: Tongue and groove boards with blind nails.

D. Wall and ceiling finish: Plaster.

E. Doorways and doors: Architrave trim surrounds the mid-nineteent
century four-panel doors,

F. Trim:

1. North Room: The paneling is more elaborate in this room
than in the others. The north wall is fully paneled with a large rectangular
panel over the mantel, framed by two fluted Doric pilasters, flanked by two
narrow vertical panels. On either side of this ensemble is a door (mid~ninete
century) leading to two narrow chimney closets. Above each door is a
horizontal rectangular panel. Another narrow vertical panel fills the space
between each door and the side wall, and completes the north wall. The
remaining walls feature wainscoting and chair rail. Paneled interior shutter
fit into the window reveals, and window seats are below each window. A molded
cornice surrounds the room.

2. South Room: The south room features a chair rail,
paneled interior shutters fitting into reveals, windows, and two horizontal
panels under each window. The molded cornice employs a pierced fascia. A
picture molding is also present,

anth

3. Central passage: The passage features paneled wainscoting.

G. Hardware: Original H~and-L hinges remain on the east exterior
door in the passage.

H. Heating: Modern central heating has been installed, but the
fireplaces remain in each room. The present mantels are replacements; the
wooden classical one in the north room dates from the early twentieth century.
The black marble Greek Revival mantel in the south room features engaged Ionic
columns, pilasters, and a rectangular panel in the frieze, The fireplaces
themselves retain rowlock segmental arches.

IV. Site: Hesse has a splendid east view across Godfrey Bay and the mouth
of the Piankatank River to the Chesapeake Bay. The house is set on a bluff

approximately one hundred yards from the river. The land or west approach is
a long lane leading through the woods and straight through cultivated fields.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Named for the German landgraviate, Hesse is noted as the seat of the
Armisteads, a prominent colonial Virginia family. The present house
probably dates from the second quarter of the eighteenth century, and is
a classic example of Tidewater plantation architecture, particularly as
expressed in the Mathews and Gloucester County area. The carefully chosen
site of the house is superb, having a commanding view across the Piankatank
out into the Chesapeake Bay.

The first Armistead in Virginia was William, who emigrated from Deight
Kirk in the West Riding of Yorkshire about 1635. As early as 1659, he had
patented 500 acres on the Piankatank River in Gloucester County (now Mathew
- - the location of Hesse., At his death, the plantation was inherited by
his son, John, "The Councillor." An important colonial figure, John was at
various times sheriff of Gloucester, Member of the House of Burgesses, and
Justice. He was a member of the Council for a time, but left this office
when he refused to sign a loyalty oath to King William and Queen Mary.

One of the important factors in the Armistead family history is the
marriages made by the offspring. By virtue of marriage, the Amisteads
were the progenitors and relations of nearly every great family in Virginia
One of John Armistead's daughters, Judith, married Robert "King'" Carter.
The other daughter, Elizabeth, married Ralph Wormeley of Rosegill, one of
the most influential men in the colony. John's son, Henry, who later
inherited Hesse, married Martha, daughter of Lewis Burwell of Carter's
Creek,

Henry Armistead dieéd in 1739 and the family plantation passed to his
son William. William's sisters also married prominent Virginians., Lucy
married Thomas Nelson of Yorktown, Secretary of the Colony, and Martha
married Dudley Digges, Burgess, also of Yorktown. William's son, William
IL, next inherited Hesse, He married Maria, daughter of Charles Carter of
Cleve. His son William B. was designated Hesse's next heir, but died befor
his father, William IT's other son, Charles Carter, was the last Armistead
to own Hesse, and on his death the plantation, numbering about 3,900 acres,
passed out of the family.

The construction date of the house has not been definitely established
but architectural evidence indicates that it was built during the ownership
of either Henry Armistead, or his son William. A puzzling feature of the
Hesse story is the reference, in a letter dated February 1798 from William
Nelson of Prince William County to William Cocke, of Cartersville, Cumberla
County, to the burning of "Hesse Mansion." This reference has given risge
to much speculation, especially in regard to the existence of another
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architectural evidence indicates that the wain block of Hesse was never burned
and has always been of the size and shape that it is today. Archaeological
excavation, however, should provide information about the form and date of the
structure whose foundations exist east of the house, A study of the remains
might prove valuable to our knowledge of Virginia colonial architecture.

Hesse was sporadically occupied during the nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries. In the mid-twentieth century it was acguired by Mr. and
Mrs. John Maxwell, who with the aid of Marcellus Wright, Sr. planned the
restoration and enlargement of Hesse to what they assumed to be its original
size. These plans were not carried out. Today Hesse is being gradually
renovated by Mr. and Mrs. Frederick Maxwell.
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